IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NO. 2008-KA-00619-COA

TERRANCE GARY

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1. I CHARGO OALY	1.	Terrance	Gary
------------------	----	----------	------

- 2. Michael E. Robinson
- 3. State of Mississippi
- 4. Jim Hood
- 5. Hon. Lamar Pickard

Appellant

Appellant Counsel

Appellee

Appellee Counsel

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT
- 2. WHETHER TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction by jury of Mr. Terrance Gary in the Circuit Court of Claiborne County, Mississippi, on January 15, 2008. Gary was convicted of one (1) count of manslaughter by culpable negligence.

B. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Terrance Gary was indicted on one (1) count of murder in May 2007, in the Claiborne County Circuit Court. [CP 3]. Gary was tried before a jury on January 15, 2008. [T 1]. Following the presentation of the State's case, Defense counsel's motion for a directed verdict was denied. [T 100]. The jury found Gary guilty of the lesser included offense of manslaughter. [T 150]. Gary was sentenced to twenty (20) years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. [T 153].

Gary filed his Motion for New Trial on February 19, 2008 [CP 58]. Order denying the Motion for New Trial was entered on March 4, 2008. [CP 60].

Gary appeals from the trial court's denial of his motions for directed verdict and for new trial.

VI.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Reversible error was committed by the lower court when the trial judge denied the motion for directed verdict. Evidence presented and testimony from the state's own witnesses established that Terrance Gary acted in self defense, and his gun was not the weapon from which the fatal shot was fired, killing Louis Trevillion. For the same reasons, the Motion for New Trial should have been granted. Finally, considering the testimony of all the witnesses presented, both lay and expert, it is clear that Terrance Gary was acting as a peacemaker in trying to break up a fight. In addition, the state's own experts could not testify that Gary's gun was the weapon from which the fatal bullet was fired. The jury's verdict was against he overwhelming weight of the testimony and evidence.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the trial court's denial of the motions for directed verdict and new trial. The jury verdict should be reversed, the charges against the Defendant dismissed and Defendant discharged; or in the alternative, this matter should be remanded to the trial court for a new trial on the merits.

VII.

ARGUMENT

A. TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT

A motion for a directed verdict and a motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict challenge the sufficiency of the evidence. *Boone v. State*, 973 So.2d 237, 242 (Miss.2008). "When reviewing a case for sufficiency of the evidence, 'the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* "The evidence must show 'beyond a reasonable doubt that accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction." *Id.* "If, keeping in mind the reasonable-doubt standard, 'reasonable and fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense,' the evidence will be deemed to have been sufficient." *Id.*

1. EXPERT CONTRADICTION OF FATAL BULLET

The State called two expert witnesses at trial. The first witness was Dr. Steven Hayne. [T 75]. Dr. Hayne, at the time, was the State's medical examiner. [T 75]. Dr. Hayne testified that the cause of death of Louis Trevillion was from a gunshot wound to the left shoulder, which after entering the body, traveled through Trevillion's ribs, lungs and heart. [T 83]. Dr. Hayne retrieved the bullet from Trevillion's body, and sent it to the state crime lab. [T 84].

Dr. Hayne noted that the bullet was consistent with a .380 caliber bullet. [T 86]. At trial, he testified that the bullet was consistent with that of a .380 caliber bullet. [T 86].

The second expert witness called was Mr. Starks Hathcock of the Mississippi Crime Lab. [T 89]. Mr. Hathcock was certified as an expert witness in the field of firearms and tool marks identification. He testified that he examined the bullet submitted by Dr. Hayne, and determined that it was consistent with a 9 millimeter caliber bullet. [T 95].

Both, Dr. Hayne and Mr. Hathcock, testified that a .380 caliber bullet and 9 millimeter caliber bullet were very similar, with the exception being the weight or length of the bullet. However, they again contradicted each other regarding the ability to fire a .380 caliber bullet from a 9 millimeter handgun. Dr. Hayne was of the opinion that it could not be done, while Mr. Hathcock opined that it was possible. [T 87, 97].

These contradictions are material and illustrate the insufficiency of the expert testimony proffered by the State in this case.

2. INCONCLUSIVE BALLISTIC RESULTS

Mr. Hathcock further testified that he conducted ballistics tests on the guns submitted, including the 9 millimeter handgun attributed to Terrance Gary, and compared those test results to the bullet retrieved from Louis Trevillion. [T 93]. After comparing the bullets fired from Gary's gun to the bullet retrieved from Trevillion, Hathcock's testimony was he could not include or exclude Gary's gun as being the weapon from which the fatal bullet was fired. [T 93]. In other words, he could not state with any certainty that Terrance Gary's gun fired the fatal shot. Hathcock could only conclude that the markings on the fatal bullet bore the

characteristics of a bullet fired from a 9 millimeter handgun. Such testimony is hardly sufficient to afford a reasonable jury of the belief that Gary could be guilty of manslaughter by culpable negligence beyond a reasonable doubt.

3. PRESENCE OF THIRD HANDGUN

Edward Jenkins, witness for the State, testified at trial that there was a third gun present at the scene of Louis Trevillion's killing. [T 72, 73]. He stated that he could not identify the model of the gun. [T 73]. When the shooting started, he ran away from the gunfire. [T 73]. He said he could hear the shots, but could not say how many guns were being fired. [T 73].

Testimony regarding the presence of a third handgun further illustrates the lack of sufficient evidence provided by the State to meet its burden that Gary is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Considering the experts' conflict regarding the caliber of bullet found to have killed Louis Trevillion, as well as the inability to include Gary's gun as the likely weapon to have fired the fatal bullet, the presence of a third gun creates more reasonable doubt for Gary. The record is void of any testimony to the contrary that there was not a third weapon. Its presence is uncontradicted.

4. GARY'S ROLE AS PEACEMAKER

Throughout the trial, witnesses testified that Gary made numerous efforts to break up a fight between Louis Trevillion and Vernon Gary. The State's first witness, Carl Ray Fleming of the Copiah County Sheriff's Department, who was lead investigator, testified his investigations found that Gary was trying to break up the fight, and he only pulled his gun

after John Trevillion pulled his gun. [T 55]. Ranvorious Shorter also testified that Gary made several attempts to stop the fight, but his efforts were thwarted by John Trevillion, who had a big board in his hands and dared Terrance Gary to stop the fight. [T 105, 106]. Herbert Barber testified to Gary's efforts to stop the fight and being prevented from doing so by John Trevillion, as well. [T 117, 118].

The testimony regarding Terrance Gary's role in the altercation leading to the shooting show that Gary had no intentions of harming anyone. His actions were taken in necessary self defense, as he only fired his weapon after being fired upon by John Trevillion.

B. TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

A motion for a new trial challenges the weight, not the sufficiency of the evidence. Boose v. State, 851 So.2d 391, 394 (Miss. Ct. App.2003). The standard of review is abuse of discretion by the trial court. Bradley. State, 921 So.2d 385, 389 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). "[T]he reviewing court must accept as true all evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only if convinced that the trial court abused its discretion in not granting a new trial." Id. "A new trial will not be ordered unless we are convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow the verdict to stand would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. Id.

In his Motion for New Trial, defense counsel pointed out to the trial court that convictions were against the overwhelming weight and sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial. [CP 58]. In addition to the preceding arguments, it must be noted that of all the witnesses to testify and evidence presented, nothing said or presented showed or identified

Terrance Gary as the shooter of Louis Trevillion. Gary simply tried to stop a fight between Louis Trevillion and Vernon Gary. For his efforts, he was shot at by John Trevillion and defended himself by shooting. The bullet that killed Louis Trevillion did not match Gary's gun. Adding all the relevant testimony and evidence, no reasonable juror could conclude that Terrance Gary is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of manslaughter by culpable negligence. There has to be some causal connection between his actions and Louis Trevillion's death. There is none in this case.

CONCLUSION

The preceding clearly illustrate that reversible error was committed by the trial court in the trial below. The lower court abused its discretion in denying the motions for directed verdict and for new trial. The testimony and evidence presented lacked sufficiency and weight to support a conviction beyond a reasonable doubt.

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the decisions of the trial court and discharge Gary from any criminal liability, or in the alternative, remand the matter to the Copiah County Circuit Court for a new trial on the merits.