IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TERRANCE GARY

VS.

,"·

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

APPELLANT

NO. 2008-KA-0619-COA

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

TABLE OF A	UTHORITIES
STATEMENT	OF THE CASE
STATEMENT	OF FACTS
SUMMARY (OF THE ARGUMENT .
ARGUMENT I.	
	BY INTRODUCING EV
	WAIVED REVIEW OF
	DIRECTED VERDICT
	CASE-IN CHIEF
II.	CASE-IN CITTEF
ſ	MOREOVER, THE VE
	AGAINST THE OVER
CONCLUSIO	Ν
CERTIFICAT	E OF SERVICE

67

.

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

.

4

A. Yes. This is the gun he said. He said yes.

BY MR. ARRINGTON: Your Honor, I would like to ask [that] this pistol be introduced as Exhibit 3.

51) [emphasis ours]

from John Trevillion?

Q. Sir?

this. Make sure it's safe.

caliber.

Q. Not a 9 millimeter?

A. Not a 9 millimeter.

Q. And you received this from John Trevillion?

A. Yes, Chicken Man.

[emphasis ours]

Stephanie Odom testified that Louis Trevillion, the victim, was her seventeen (17) year old

son. (R. 46-47)

Q. And that was the gun he shot?

BY THE COURT: S-3.

(EXHIBIT NO. S-3, GUN, 9 MILLIMETER, MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION AND ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.) (R. 50-

* * * * * *

Q. Did you also have an opportunity to recover a gun

A. Yes, one was recovered from John Trevillion.

A. Yes, it was. One was recovered.

Q. I want to hand you this and ask you if you can identify

A. It's a High Point, but it's a model JHP and it's 45

Q. I would like this to be introduced as Exhibit [S-]4. (R. 51)

Carl Ray Fleming testified that on November 8, 2006, he was dispatched to Hermanville where a shooting had taken place at the New Store off Highway 18. (R. 48) When Fleming arrived at the scene he observed Louis Trevillion lying in the parking lot. (R. 48) Fleming photographed the scene and the body as well. (R. 48-49) John Trevillion, a/k/a "Chicken Man," was brought into the station house with the gun he fired that day, "a model JHP and it's 45 caliber." (R. 51) According to Fleming, all the witnesses, including Terrance Gary, claimed the only people with weapons were Terrance Gary, a/k/a "Poon Scoon", and John Trevillion. No one ever said the decedent, Louis Trevillion, had a gun. (R. 52) During cross-examination the following colloquy took place: Q. [BY DEFENSE COUNSEL:] Now, when they were telling you about this shootout that was going on between John and Terrance, did they tell you who shot first? A. No, only somebody said, and I'm not perfectly sure on it, that a gun was pulled by John first. Q. John Trevillion pulled his gun first? A. Yes. Q. So Terrance Gary only pulled his gun after - - according to the statements you got, John Trevillion pulled his gun first? A. That's it. (R. 54)

> Q. * * * Now, you identified the gun that Terrance had to be a 9 millimeter; is that correct?

> > A. Yes.

Q. And that is the gun that Terrance told you he had?

A. That's correct.

* * * * * *

- A. That's correct.
- A. Yes. (R. 55)

- of the car. Louis waived him off and Vernon got into a car and left. (R. 60-61)
- observations are found in the following colloquy:
 - there?
 - fighting.
 - fighting?

 - A. Yes, sir.

Q. He identified that as being his gun?

Q. As the gun he was shooting at the New Store?

Edwards Jenkins, a resident of Hermanville, testified he observed Louis Trevillion and

Vernon Gary at the Sonic around 12:00 o'clock. Vernon removed his shirt and told Louis to get out

Jenkins thereafter left the Sonic and drove to the New Store on Highway 18. His subsequent

Q. [BY PROSECUTOR:] What happened when you got

A. I was just normally - - my cousin had left and left me her truck so I could take my stepson home, and we just stood around the store, I was talking to a couple of fellows, you know, just talking, you know, shooting the breeze. And Louis had came through and dropped his little friend off that was with him and came back to the store. About two minutes after that, Terrance pulled - - somebody dropped Terrance off. He walked into the store, came back out, and then walked across the street where the burger stand is. I'll say like roughly five minutes after that, Vernon pulled up like in front of the store, but up side the store and got out. When he got out, they didn't say nothing to each other, no arguments or nothing. They just started

Q. When you say "they" started fighting. Who started

A. Vernon [Gary] and Louis [Trevillion] started fighting.

O. Now, when you say "Vernon," is that Vernon Gary?

Q. And is he related to the defendant, Terrance Gary?

A. Yes, sir.

.

A. Yes, sir.

A. Yes, that's John's brother.

Q. Now, while Vernon Gary and Louis Trevillion are fighting, what happens? When they started fighting, what happened?

A. They got into a tussle, they rolled around the side of the car, around to the back of the car and onto the ground.

Q. And about what time of day was this?

A. Not having a watch or nothing like that, I'm saying maybe 1 o'clock. It was shortly after (unintelligible), so I'll say maybe 1:00, 1:15. I didn't have no time, no watch to see what time it started.

Q. Was it a rainy day, clear day?

A. The sun was out.

happened after that?

A. Well, they were tussling around on the car, and Terrance comes from across the street, and just a whole crowd - - guys coming around just surrounding the fight. They fall on the ground - - they're holding each other in a bear lock, Louis on the bottom and Vernon is on top. Terrance come out and say, "Huh -uh, no, no, no," you know. (R. 63)

came over to the fight?

something. (R. 64)

Q. And he started fighting with Trevillion, Louis Trevillion?

Q. And was he related to John Trevillion?

Q. And while they're tussling around on the ground, what

* * * * * *

Q. So Terrance - - what did you see Terrance do when he

A. Well, he didn't do nothing. It's what he said. He said

* * * * * *

Q. After he made his comment, what did John Trevillion do?

A. John Trevillion made another comment towards him.

Q. And so now we have the two boys or the two young men on the ground fighting, and now we have John Trevillion and Terrance Gary making comments at each other.

A. Yes, sir.

happened after that?

A. Terrance walked to Vernon's car. At that time I told my stepson to go around the side of the store because I'm seeing this escalating. So I tell him to go around the side of the store, and I'm pushing him around the side of the store. I look around and I seen Terrance bent over on the driver side and another guy on the passenger side. I hear Terrance tell the little guy, "Give me the clip."

A. Getting the gun out of the car.

Q. Did you actually see a gun?

A. Yes.

Q. How many guns did you see?

A. I saw two.

Q. And who had these guns?

A. Terrance and David.

Q. And what did Terrance do after he got his gun?

A. He cocked it and backed up, like jumped to the side of the car on around to where the crowd was.

Q. What was John Trevillion doing while Terrance was getting his gun and cocking it.

A. He had a stick in his hand.

Q. Now, after making comments to each other, what

Q. And so what were they doing there in that?

.

A. After he got the gun, he ran to the side of the car and cocked it. When he cocked it, that's when John looked at him and said, "Oh, you got a gun for me?" And he went to his side. And when he went to his side and pulled his [gun] out, that's when the first shot popped off.

Q. First shot popped off?

A. When John pulled his gun out, that's when Terrance shot first, bam. Then he backed up. That's when John shot, bam. Then he ran up on the side of the hill. At that time I'm backing back to the side of the store. Now, I can't see the fight from the side of the store. I'm looking up the hill as I see Terrance shoot over the truck, like leaning over the truck shooting about four or five shots. After that I hear Louis out - - he hollered. When I ran around the side of the store, I seen Vernon back up off of him and looked like this here and run get in his car and backed up. I runs over there. Louis' other brother, Spanky - - Antwain - - I'm not for sure his name, he came from off the side of the RC truck and helped me with him. He asked me where is he shot at, where is he hit at. He said, take him to the hospital. I run back across the parking lot of the store to get my truck. By then he had collapsed in his brother's arms. I tried to get his brother to help me get him in the car, but he was shot too bad, so he just sat there and he was gone. (R. 64-67)

Q. Now, who did you say fired the first shot?

A. Terrance.

Q. Terrance being the defendant?

A. Yes, sir. (R. 68-69)

Q. Now, right after the shooting you said you went over and you were there with Trevillion, Louis Trevillion. Where was Terrance at that time?

A. After the shooting he ran up 18.

Q. And what did Terrance do after he got his gun?

* * * * * *

* * * * * *

Q. "He" being - -

A. Took off running up 18.

Q. That's Terrance you said took off running?

A. Yes.

Q. Where was John Trevillion?

no more. (R. 69)

happened?

A. Yes, sir.

A. Terrance. (R. 69)

Dr. Steven Hayne, the State's pathologist qualified as an expert in the field of forensic pathology, testified that at the request of the Claiborne County coroner, he performed the autopsy on Louis Trevillion on November 8th and 9th, 2006. (R. 77-78) "Mr. Trevillion died from a gunshot wound to the left shoulder." The bullet penetrated his

heart and both lungs resulting in massive blood loss. (R. 82)

A projectile was recovered from the decedent's body and submitted to the Mississippi Crime

Laboratory for analysis. (R. 83)

Dr. Hayne ruled the manner of death as a homicide. (R. 84) During cross-examination Dr. Hayne was asked about his report which stated that he removed "... a Yellow Jacket bullet consistent with a .380 caliber projectile" (R. 85) That colloquy is quoted as follows:

A. I don't know. After the shooting started, I didn't see him

* * * * * *

Q. And when you gave your statement, did you tell them what

Q. And who did you say shot first?

11

Q. All right. Now, what would be - - how would you differentiate between the .380 and the guns they just mentioned?

A. Well, first, Counselor, we only say it's consistent with. The final call is the firearm's division for the Mississippi Crime Lab. They'll make the final determination. The .380 is usually a slightly shorter round than the 9 millimeter. There is a short 9 millimeter that would have the same characteristics. They both have the same diameter. 45 caliber is fairly easy to differentiate from either the .380 or 9 millimeter; being a much larger bullet, having much greater mass.

Q. This bullet that was recovered in the autopsy was consistent with a .380 caliber projectile?

A. Yes, Counselor. (R. 85)

millimeter could you?

A. I wouldn't want to try, Counselor. It's shorter - - the casing is shorter, the projectile is shorter. You probably could fire it, but I wouldn't want to try. (R. 86)

During re-examination, Dr. Hayne acknowledged he was familiar with the weapons but

conceded he was "... not a firearm expert." (R. 86)

Additional colloquy during re-examination is quoted as follows:

Q. And you said that the bullet in your report was consistent with a .380 which is smaller than the 45?

A. Oh, much smaller, Counselor.

Q. And you said it was more consistent with a .380?

A. It was consistent with it, but I always defer to the Mississippi Crime Lab to make a final call on the caliber and any other part of the examination of the weapon.

Q. And at the time - -

_

A. On any aspect of firearms, I would defer to the Mississippi

* * * * * *

Q. Dr. Hayne, you couldn't fire a .380 bullet from a 9

Q. At the time that you were writing your report, you were not looking at either weapon; is that correct?

A. No. All we had was the recovered projectile.

millimeter?

A. It could be a short 9 millimeter, Counselor. They do make a 9 millimeter where the projectile is the same diameter to the .380, but the length of the projectile is shorter, and it's essentially impossible for me to tell them apart. (R. 87-88)

Starks Hathcock, a forensic scientist specializing in firearm examination and an employee

for thirteen (13) years at the Mississippi State Crime Laboratory, was accepted as an expert in the

field of firearms and tool marks identification. (R. 90)

Hathcock testified he examined the projectile removed from the body of Louis Trevillion as

well as the two firearms submitted for examination, a semi automatic 9 millimeter (Exhibit S-3) and

"a 45 auto caliber handgun" (Exhibit S-4). (R. 90-91)

Hathcock's findings and conclusions are described in the following colloquy:

Q. [BY PROSECUTOR:] Now, you were requested by the Claiborne County Sheriff's Department to do certain tests. What tests did you do with this submission 1, 2 and 5?

A. It was requested by the sheriff's department for me to compare that bullet or projectile in submission number 5 to determine if it was fired in the guns in submissions 1 or 2.

Q. And did you conduct these tests?

A. Yes, sir, I did.

Q. And as a result of those tests, as to firearm submission number 2, the 45 [caliber], what did you determine?

A. The projectile in submission 5 was not fired in the gun

Crime Lab, Firearms Division to make the final call.

Q. And did I hear you say that was consistent also with a 9

of submission 2.

A. That's correct.

Q. How can you say that?

A. Well, the projectile in submission number 5 is a 9 millimeter caliber projectile The firearm in submission number 2 is a 45 auto caliber firearm.

Q. Now, you also fired the 9 millimeter you have here, submission number 1, and what were you able to determine concerning the bullet and that gun?

A. The bullet bears class characteristics consistent with that gun but cannot be positively included or excluded as having been fired from that gun.

millimeter gun?

A. Yes, it did come from a 9 millimeter gun which did have nine lands and grooves in the barrel of the gun. In other words, when a barrel is manufactured at the factory, they put grooves in the barrel and they give it a twist, either a left or right-hand twist. That's what makes the projectile spin as it's going toward the target. In other words, it's like throwing a football. The more you put a spin on it, the more accurate it will be. That's the purpose of these lands and grooves in the barrel. So when the projectile goes down this barrel, it imprints those number of lands and grooves on that projectile, and this projectile did have nine lands and grooves, and that gun has also nine lands and grooves. (R. 93) [emphasis ours]

During cross-examination, the following colloquy took place:

Q. [BY DEFENSE COUNSEL:] I'm going to hand you Exhibit D-9, and this is a final report of autopsy by Dr. Hayne, and I would like for you to look at the part about trace evidence. Would you disagree with Dr. Hayne on that?

A. Yes.

Q. You disagree with him?

Q. And you can say that unequivocally it was not fired?

O. But you were able to determine it was done from a 9

A. Yes. (R. 95)

Q. This right here in this particular case, we're talking about the difference between a 9 millimeter and a .380. And you're saying there's practically no difference at all?

A. The only difference is the weight of the projectile. A .380 caliber projectile can be fired in a 9 millimeter gun. The only difference is the length of the projectile.

Q. That's the only difference?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. So he could have possibly been shot with a .380.

A. No sir. This was a 9 millimeter caliber projectile. A 9 millimeter cannot be fired from a .380, but a .380 can be fired from a 9 millimeter. The 9 millimeter cartridge is too long to chamber in a .380 caliber pistol. (R. 96-97) [emphasis ours]

Re-examination was concluded as follows:

Q. Mr. Hathcock, as you told Mr. Dulaney on Dr. Hayne final thing, you disagree that that was a .380 bullet?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. But it would be consistent with a .380?

A. It's consistent with the family or the caliber class that it is in. They're all considered to be in the same class of calibers. In other words, .380, 9 millimeter, 38, 357 are all in the same family class characteristics. In other words, they're in the same - - they're the same caliber but the weights are different.

a .380 bullet?

A. Yes. (R. 97)

At the close of the State's case-in-chief, the defendant's motion for a directed verdict of

* * * * * *

Q. But basically Dr. Hayne was wrong when he said that was

acquittal voiced on the general ground the State failed to put on sufficient evidence to prove Gary's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt was overruled. (R. 98-99) After being advised of his right to testify or not to testify Gary, in the end, elected not to testify. (R. 99-100, 135) Terrance Gary called three (3) witnesses in his defense. (R. 101-132) Ranvorius Shorter, testified Vernon Gary and Louis Trevillion were involved in a tussle. (R. 103) Terrance Gary was trying to break up the altercation. John Trevillion, a/k/a "Chicken Man," said, "Don't break up the fight. Let them fight." Trevillion then went to his vehicle and got a board. (R. 104) While Shorter was watching the fight, John Trevillion pulled a gun from his pants after noticing Terrance with his gun. (R. 111) John Trevillion fired the first shot. Terrance Gary also had a gun, and a fire fight ensued. (R. 106-07) Shorter never saw Terrance shoot because Shorter was too busy running. Herbert Barber testified he knew both Louis Trevillion and Vernon Gary who were "fighting" at the New Store. (R. 115) "They was just wrestling. Wasn't really no fight." (R. 115) A crowd gathered. Terrance Gary was trying to get closer so he could break up the fight. John Trevillion, on the other hand, wanted to let them fight and prevented Terrance from breaking it up. (R. 117) Terrance then went off and got a gun. (R. 117) John Trevillion also had a gun. (R. 117) Shots were fired and Barber ran. (R. 117) "I just know it was John and Terrance [shooting.]" Finally, Vernon Gary, the defendant's cousin, testified Terrance tried to break up the

altercation between Terrance and Louis but could r
there with a stick. John thereafter ran to his van, go
Vernon's version of the shooting is found in
Q. [BY DEFENSE COUNS] got his gun, what happened after that
A. He came back over and T break it up. He was still trying to bre gun out and shot. I don't know wh that's when Terrance came out with other. (R. 124)

Q. Who did you see with a g
A. John.
Q. And who did you see sho
A. John shot first.
Q. And then what did Te gun?
A. Ran behind a truck, a back and forth.
Q. And during that time,
A. Still on the ground.
Q. And Louis was on the g
A. Yes, ma'am.
Q. Now, was there a point w
A. Yeah.
Q. And when was that?
17
17

•

not do so because John Trevillion was standing

ot a gun, and came back. (R. 123-24)

the following colloquy:

EL:] Now, when John went and it? ¹

Ferrance was fixing to go try and eak it up, and John just pulled his here he shot at, but he shot, and his. They was shooting at each

* *

gun first?

oot the gun first?

errance do after John shot the

.

and they just started shooting

where were you?

ground with you at that point?

where they stopped shooting?

A. (Witness nods head affirmatively.)

A. Where were we?

were you?

After stating initially he wanted to testify, Terrance Gary changed his mind and told Judge

Pickard: "I don't want to testify." (R. 136)

The State produced no rebuttal and rested finally. (R. 136-37)

At the close of all the evidence (R. 136-37), Gary's motion for a directed verdict was not

renewed. (R. 136)

Peremptory instruction was requested and denied. (C.P. at 53)

Following closing arguments, the jury retired to deliberate at 5:40 p.m. and returned with the

following verdict twenty-five (25) minutes later at 6:05 p.m.: (R. 148)

""We, the jury, find the defendant, Terrance Gary, guilty of manslaughter by culpable negligence." (R. 150; C.P. at 54)

A poll of the individual jurors reflected the verdict returned was unanimous. (R. 150)

Following a presentence investigation and report, Gary, less than contrite, was sentenced on

February 4, 2008, to serve twenty (20) years in the custody of the MDOC. (R. 151-52)

On February 19, 2008, Gary filed his "Motion For New Trial" claiming the verdict was, inter

A. When he got shot, that's when they stopped shooting.

Q. When Louis got shot?

Q. How did they know he was shot?

A. I knew it because he hollered out.

Q. Where were you in relation to Louis at that time?

Q. You said you all were still on the ground, so where

A. I was on top of him. (R. 125-26) [emphasis ours]

alia, without sufficient evidence to support it and was against the weight of the evidence. (C.P. at 58) In an order signed on March 26, 2008, the motion for a new trial was overruled. (C.P. at 31) Sim Dulaney and Nikita Banks, practicing attorneys in Port Gibson, represented Gary very effectively during the trial of this cause. Michael E. Robinson, a practicing attorney in Jackson, has been substituted on direct appeal. His representation has been equally effective. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT Gary waived - forfeited, if you please - review of his motion for a directed verdict made at the close of the State's case-in-chief when he thereafter introduced evidence in his own behalf. Holland v. State, 656 So.2d 1192, 1197 (Miss. 1995). See also Bonner v. State, 962 So.2d 606, 609 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006). But even if otherwise, the evidence was sufficient to prove each and every element of the

crime charged.

Admittedly, there is a conflict in the testimony with respect to who fired the first shot, whether Terrance Gary or John Trevillion. (R. 64-67, 124-26)

No matter.

Accepting as true the testimony of Deputy Fleming that Terrance Gary identified the 9 millimeter Luger as Gary's pistol and the pistol that Gary was firing that day (R. 50-51, 55); accepting as true the testimony of Edward Jenkins that John Trevillion and Terrance Gary exchanged words, armed themselves, and began shooting at one another (R. 64-67); accepting as true the testimony of Jenkins that when the shots began Vernon Gary was on top of Louis Trevillion in the parking lot of the New Store (R. 63);

accepting as true the testimony of Jenkins that after Louis Trevillion was shot, Terrance Gary took off running up Highway 18 (R. 69); accepting as true the testimony of Dr. Steven Hayne that he always defers to the firearms division of the Mississippi Crime Laboratory to make a final call on the caliber and any other part of the examination of the weapon (R. 85, 87-88); accepting as true the *unequivocal* testimony of Starks Hathcock that the bullet removed by Dr. Hayne from the decedent's body *was not* fired in the .45 pistol received from John Trevillion (R. 92-93);

accepting as true the testimony of Hathcock that the bullet removed from the decedent's body was fired from a 9 millimeter gun and that the 9 mm fired by Terrance Gary could not be positively included or excluded as having been the source of that bullet (R. 93); accepting as true the testimony of Vernon Gary that when the shots were fired he and Louis Trevillion were on the ground with Vernon on top of Louis at the moment Trevillion hollered out indicating he had been hit (R. 125-26); accepting as true all reasonable inferences flowing sweetly therefrom, and disregarding any evidence favorable to the defendant, it is abundantly clear the State's evidence was legally sufficient to support Terrance Gary's conviction of manslaughter by culpable negligence. Indeed, the question is not even close. With respect to the question of "weight," as opposed to "sufficiency," the circuit judge clearly did not abuse his judicial discretion in overruling the defendant's motion for a new trial based, in part, on a claim the verdict of the jury was contrary to the evidence and strongly against the weight of the evidence. (C.P. at 58)

The evidence clearly does not preponderate in favor of Gary's theory of the case that he was trying to break up the fight between his cousin and Louis Trevillion and fired his gun in self-defense. Any conflicts in the testimony of the experts - contrary to Gary's claim otherwise, there were no material conflicts - were questions for the jury to unravel. "The jury is the sole judge of the weight and credibility of the evidence." Byrd v. State, 522 So.2d 756, 760 (Miss. 1988) [emphasis supplied]. See also Schuck v. State, 865 So.2d 1111, 1124 (Miss. 2003). ["The jury is the judge of the credibility of a witness."]; Steen v. State, 873 So.2d 155, 159 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004) ["(T)he credibility of a witness is a question for the jury."]; Love v. State, 829 So.2d 707, 709 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002) ["The jury is the judge of the weight and credibility of testimony and is free to accept or reject all or some of the testimony given by each witness." Contrary to Gary's claim otherwise, affirmation of his conviction would not work an

unconscionable injustice.

STATE'S CASE-IN CHIEF.

EVIDENCE.

The testimony supporting Gary's conviction of manslaughter by culpable negligence has been

quoted verbatim in our Statement of Facts and summarized in our Summary of the Argument. We

ARGUMENT

I.

BY INTRODUCING EVIDENCE IN HIS OWN BEHALF, GARY WAIVED REVIEW OF THE DENIAL OF A MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT MADE AT THE CLOSE OF THE

II.

MOREOVER, THE VERDICT OF THE JURY WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE

decline to repeat it all here. Gary, it appears, assails both the sufficiency and the weight of the evidence used to secure his conviction of manslaughter. First, he argues "[t]he trial court should have granted [his] motion for directed verdict." (Brief of Appellant at 4) The only motion for directed verdict found in the record was made at the close of the State's case-in-chief. (R. 98) The complete answer to this assignment of error is that Gary waived his motion for a directed verdict made at the close of the State's case-in-chief when he introduced evidence in his own behalf. One of the latest expressions on the subject matter is found in Bonner v. State, 962 So.2d 606, 609 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006), where we find the following language: It is well settled that when a motion for a directed verdict is overruled at the conclusion of the State's evidence, and the appellant proceeds to introduce evidence in his own behalf, the point is waived. Fields v. State, 293 So.2d 430, 432 (Miss. 1974) (citing Hankins v. State, 288 So.2d 866, 867 (Miss. 1974); Smith v. State, 245 So.2d 583, 586 (Miss. 1971).) * * * After his motion for a directed verdict was overruled at the close of the State's case-in-chief (C.P. at 98-99), Gary introduced three (3) witnesses who testified in his defense. He did not renew his motion for a directed verdict made at the close of all the evidence. (R. 136) The waiver rule is applicable here. Argument targeting the insufficiency of the State's evidence at the time of Gary's motion for a directed verdict has been waived by virtue of this Court's holdings in Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d at 807-08, note 3 and Holland v. State, 656 So.2d 1192, 1197 (Miss. 1995). Even if not, when the issue is one of legal sufficiency, any evidence favorable to the defendant must be disregarded. Yates v. State, 685 So.2d 715, 718 (Miss, 1996); Ellis v. State, 667

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